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  IT IS SOMETIMES SAID that decorations such as the Victoria Cross and Congressional Medal of Honor are frequently won but seldom

  awarded. This may well be true and, if so, it is simply a reflection of life itself. The same can be said of fame. Every nation has its well-remembered heroes, who are few in number simply because

  they are heroes. The names of George Washington, Napoleon Bonaparte, the Duke of Wellington, General Ulysses S. Grant and Kitchener of Khartoum are familiar to those with even a nodding

  acquaintance of the basic outline of history. Yet some of their most notable contemporaries, who assisted them to pre-eminence and themselves earned considerable fame in their day, have now become

  shadowy figures—if, indeed, they are remembered at all, notwithstanding their remarkable achievements. Often, these latter were momentous and repay study in their own right. As individuals,

  such men were as diverse as human nature itself. The lives of some were honourable throughout. Others saw no vice in treachery, or were flawed in other ways. The only characteristics they possessed

  in common were that they were soldiers of outstanding ability and, for good or ill, they exercised a decisive influence on the conflicts in which they fought.




  One man’s rebel is another man’s patriot, goes the saying. Benedict Arnold joined the American colonists in rebelling against their King and Mother Country. Although he was not

  actually in command at the time, he was largely responsible for the colonists’ critical victory at Saratoga, which brought France and Spain into the war on their side, and his contribution to

  the cause of American Independence was therefore of enormous value. Despite this, his avaricious nature soon led him to quarrel with his new masters and he deserted to the

  British, who rewarded him suitably and employed him for a time as a field commander. Treachery is neither easily forgotten nor forgiven, and Benedict Arnold, twice a traitor, found himself

  friendless when the war ended, a figure despised by both nations.




  Serving in the same war was Banastre Tarleton, the son of a rich Liverpool slaver. Tarleton’s exploits as a junior officer included the capture of General Charles Lee, who was regarded by

  Congress as being second only in importance to George Washington. The young officer’s potential was recognised, and, as a result of the workings of the British commission-by-purchase system,

  he was appointed commander of a loyalist unit known as the British Legion. With the Legion, Tarleton showed himself to be a cavalry commander of rare distinction, winning one victory after another.

  His methods, including relentless pursuit, had much in common with Rommel’s, but, like Rommel, he tended to repeat his tactics and did so once too often, with serious consequences. During its

  career, the Legion, whose members were engaged in what amounted to a savage civil war, behaved with counter-productive cruelty, generating hatred and fear wherever it went, earning its commander

  the name of ‘Bloody’. Ironically, though Tarleton did possess pronounced sadistic tendencies, the title was awarded by the rebels for an engagement in which he had no control over

  events. His return home was celebrated with bonfires and the ringing of church bells. He never commanded troops in action again, preferring to become a hanger-on of the Prince of Wales’s set,

  although he could have made a valuable contribution during the French Revolutionary and Napoleonic Wars.




  General Louis Desaix was a man of very different stamp and background. Of aristocratic lineage, he nevertheless supported the principles of the French Revolution. He took part in

  Napoleon’s Egyptian campaign, being responsible for the capture of Malta and the conquest of Upper Egypt. He then joined Napoleon for the 1800 campaign in northern Italy. Of the climactic

  Battle of Marengo, Napoleon was fond of remarking that within an hour he had turned his army’s apparent defeat into a smashing victory. It was his first battle as head of state, consolidating

  both his position and, apparently, his reputation for brilliance, and he instructed his historians to record it in these terms. The truth was that he fought a bungled battle and

  was on the point of being routed when Desaix reached the field and delivered the decisive counter-attack, losing his life in the process. Subsequently, Napoleon went to considerable lengths to

  conceal his indebtedness to the dead hero.




  Major George Baring was a Hanoverian officer who served with the King’s German legion in the Peninsular War and was then given the task of holding the vital outpost of La Haye Sainte with

  a small garrison during the Battle of Waterloo. Recognising that possession of the farm was the key to Wellington’s position, Baring and his Germans beat off a series of ferocious French

  attacks throughout the afternoon and early evening. Only when their ammunition supply failed completely were Baring and a handful of survivors forced to abandon the position during hand-to-hand

  fighting in which they were hopelessly outnumbered, but by then it was too late for Napoleon to take advantage of the situation. After the war Baring joined the reconstituted Hanoverian Army and,

  as the King of England was also the King of Hanover, he received the equivalent of a knighthood and promotion as a reward for his exemplary services.




  James Scarlett was one of the few generals to emerge from the Crimean War with his reputation enhanced. Initially, he commanded the Heavy Brigade within the British Army’s troubled Cavalry

  Division, but chose to remain aloof from the asinine squabbles of Lords Cardigan and Lucan. Never having seen active service before, he possessed the wisdom to seek advice from those who had. To

  his troops he was something of a kindly, avuncular figure. The charge of his outnumbered brigade during the Battle of Balaclava trounced the Russians roundly, thwarting their plans to capture the

  British supply port, and was the most successful cavalry action of the war. After Lucan and Cardigan had left for home, Scarlett became commander of the Cavalry Division. He was not a man to seek

  fame or advancement, and, indeed, the outstanding performance of the Heavy Brigade was eclipsed almost immediately by the supreme courage and discipline displayed in the Charge of the Light

  Brigade, although in later years it, too, became the subject of a poem by Alfred Lord Tennyson. Scarlett was an unassuming sort of hero who, in his own eyes, simply performed the task he had been

  set with the minimum of fuss. It was, perhaps, understandable that the egregious behaviour of some of his contemporaries should have attracted the greater attention.




  The Great or Indian Mutiny, arising from deep and mutual misunderstandings, was probably the greatest tragedy in the history of the British Empire. It was more than a

  mutiny, as several princely rulers decided to throw in their lot with the rebels, but it was not a national war of independence, for without the assistance of other princes and loyal Indian troops

  it would have proved extremely difficult to restore order. In such desperate time, the hour produced the men. One such was Major William Hodson, the commander of an irregular cavalry regiment.

  Hodson, a brilliant swordsman, loved fighting for its own sake. With icy courage, he and a handful of his troopers faced down thousands of mutineers to arrest the King of Delhi. He then returned to

  arrest the King’s decadent sons, who were guilty of some of the worst atrocities committed against European women and children. Once again, Hodson and his small escort were surrounded by a

  huge mob of mutineers who seemed on the point of making a rescue attempt. To put an end to the matter, Hodson shot the princes on the spot. To many he was a hero who at a stroke deprived the

  mutineers of figureheads to whom they could rally, and therefore saved many lives in the longer term, although to others less immediately involved his action was high-handed and, lacking as it did

  the sanction of the judicial process, reprehensible. Hodson was killed during the final capture of Lucknow but his name lived on his regiment, which was absorbed into the Indian Army.




  Major General Sir Hugh Rose commanded the Central India Field Force during the Mutiny. Few expected him to do well, yet the achievements of his force were truly astonishing. Heavily outnumbered,

  it fought its way across mountain ranges and arid plains in heat that literally exploded thermometers, storming fortresses and winning battle after battle. Among Rose’s principal opponents

  were the notorious Tantia Topi and the equally notorious Rani of Jhansi, who dressed and fought as one of her own troopers and whose name was linked with a particularly vile massacre. In any

  circumstances other than the desperate conditions prevailing in India at the time, Rose would have been regarded as one of the great commanders of the Victorian era. Outside the Army, however, he

  was largely forgotten, and it is only recently that the full measure of his worth has been recognised by historians.




  In the equally tragic circumstances of the American Civil War, the huge armies raised by North and South were usually commanded by regular soldiers, whose names are still

  familiar to us. Below them the intermediate levels of command were held by officers who had been professional or business men until the outbreak of war, yet who were now required to make military

  decisions with a minimum of formal training. One such was Benjamin H. Grierson, who, as a colonel commanding a brigade of Union cavalry, was set the mission of raiding deep into enemy territory to

  destroy the Confederate rail communications with the fortress of Vicksburg. After completing this task successfully, he appreciated that his brigade would be cut to pieces by its pursuers if he

  attempted to return north, and he therefore decided to head for Federal-controlled territory on the southern reaches of the Mississippi. In so doing he performed the extraordinary feat of arms of

  having ridden right across the Confederacy from north to south, for which he received popular acclaim and promotion. After the war he chose to remain in the Army and was given command of the black

  10th Cavalry. Although the regiment performed well during the Indian wars on the frontier, he never achieved the fame of such contemporaries as Custer, Miles and Crook and gradually dropped from

  view.




  Lew Wallace had fought as a junior officer in the United States’ war against Mexico but was by profession a lawyer and state politician. On the outbreak of the Civil War he was granted a

  commission as Major General of Volunteers, but he enjoyed mixed fortunes. He handled his division well during the campaign against Forts Henry and Donelson, but at the Battle of Shiloh he failed to

  make his presence felt and, having incurred Grant’s enmity, was banished to administrative appointments. By 1864 Grant had deprived the Confederate Army of Northern Virginia, commanded by

  General Robert E. Lee, of the power to manoeuvre by locking it into a war of attrition. Anxious to break free, Lee sent one of his ablest subordinates, Jubal Early, to menace Washington from the

  Shenandoah Valley, hoping that this would panic the capital’s politicians into withdrawing a large part of Grant’s army to contain the threat. By now Wallace was commanding the

  Baltimore District, apparently far removed from the seat of war. However, he read the strategic implications correctly and, mustering such troops as he could, he marched to meet Early at Monocacy,

  imposing a day’s delay on him despite losing the battle. This provided Grant with just sufficient time to detach a single corps for Washington’s defence.

  Early’s advance came to naught and Lee did not recover the power to manoeuvre, making his defeat inevitable. For a brief period Wallace became the toast of the capital, and even Grant praised

  his prompt action. Today, although Wallace is widely known as the author of the book Ben Hur, few are even aware of his military service.




  Having been awarded the Victoria Cross during the early months of the Second Afghan War, Lieutenant Walter Hamilton was already a hero when he was appointed to command Sir Louis

  Cavagnari’s escort at the British Residency in Kabul, following the apparent termination of hostilities. The escort consisted of 75 men drawn from the Guides, a crack Indian Army unit and one

  that can be seen as a forerunner of the modern SAS, but the Residency, overlooked as it was from most directions, was vulnerable to attack. When thousands of regular Afghan soldiers, reinforced by

  the Kabul mob, launched a treacherous assault on the compound, Hamilton and his men conducted an aggressive defence, fighting to the death but taking 600 of their attackers with them. The

  subsequent official investigation records that ‘the annals of no army and no regiment can show a brighter record of bravery than has been achieved by this small band of Guides’. As a

  direct result of the incident open hostilities were resumed, and the war, the collective memory of which has faded into the shadows with the passage of time, was fought through to a successful

  conclusion.




  Hector Macdonald was the son of a Highland crofter. Having enlisted as a private soldier, he rose in due course to general’s rank and was knighted for his services. While serving as a

  sergeant during the Second Afghan War he was offered the Victoria Cross or a battlefield commission, and he chose the latter. He went on to serve in the First Boer War, and during Kitchener’s

  re-conquest of the Sudan he commanded an Egyptian infantry brigade. In the opinion of some, he was the real victor of the Battle of Omdurman, for when Kitchener, having beaten off the first dervish

  attack, prematurely ordered a general advance, he did so leaving large bodies of the enemy unsubdued on his flanks. When these, amounting to more than one-third of the dervish army, renewed the

  attack, Macdonald coolly redeployed his regiments to meet the threat, holding his own until assistance arrived and earning the popular nickname of ‘Fighting Mac’.

  During the Second Boer War he commanded the prestigious Highland Brigade. He then became Commander-in-Chief Ceylon, where, because his marriage remained a secret, jealousy among the colonial

  hierarchy resulted in unfounded accusations of homosexuality being levelled against him. Wishing to spare his wife and family the humiliation of a public inquiry, he took his own life. For many

  years afterwards it was rumoured that the German General von Mackensen was actually Hector Macdonald, despite the career of the former being well documented. Though he remains largely unknown

  elsewhere, ‘Fighting Mac’ remains a hero in his native Scotland.




  Major General Charles Townshend was a complex character, driven by a burning desire for advancement and a constant craving for popular adulation, but he was nonetheless a competent soldier. In

  1895 he conducted the successful defence of the isolated fort of Chitral on the North-West Frontier, earning the nickname ‘Chitral Charlie’. The siege caught the public imagination,

  although the relief force actually had a much harder time. He saw further active service in the Sudan and was present at Omdurman. During the First World War he commanded a division in Mesopotamia

  and, having broken the Turkish line, pursued the beaten enemy for many miles up the Tigris in river steamers, gunboats and local craft, the incident becoming known as ‘Townshend’s

  Regatta’. He was now at the height of his fame, but, encouraged by his immediate superior, he attempted to extend his advance and capture Baghdad, contrary to his better judgement. His

  division won a battle at Ctesiphon but incurred such heavy losses that he had to withdraw. Arriving at Kut al Amara, he announced that he would defend the town as he had defended Chitral twenty

  years earlier. This was neither necessary nor desirable. The siege kept him in the public eye, but relief attempts resulted in more casualties than there were men present in Kut and were finally

  abandoned. When Kut surrendered Townshend promised to share his men’s hardships but instead enjoyed a luxurious captivity in an island villa while many of his troops starved to death in

  Turkish prison camps. The survivors never forgave him, nor did the public. He was never employed again, and he died in the very obscurity he so dreaded.




  Townshend and the others described in these pages belonged to a time when it was possible for individuals to change the course of history, and their actions enable us to see

  events from an often neglected perspective. Comparatively few men achieved such status in the era of total war, and those that did have not yet been forgotten. The reader might agree that, the

  world being a stage, there are occasions when the supporting actors sometimes out-perform the principals.
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  IN 1775 THIRTEEN of the fourteen British colonies in North America rebelled against their Mother Country. The basic issue was that

  the colonists, no longer needing the protection of the British Army and the Royal Navy since the expulsion of the French from Canada, objected strongly to being taxed without representation in

  Parliament. This was hardly surprising since this had been one of the primary principles upon which the English Civil War had been fought 130 years earlier. Nevertheless, the London administration

  of the day remained intransigent upon the subject and King George III, badly advised, was adamant that there should be no change in the colonies’ status. Attitudes on both sides hardened

  until the Westminster government, foolishly resorting to the tool of repression, provoked the colonists into armed insurrection.




  Within the thirteen colonies there was at first no clear majority in favour of severing all political ties with the United Kingdom. Approximately one-third of the population were in favour of

  complete independence, about the same number, known as loyalists, were for retaining some form of connection, and the rest simply wanted to get on with their lives. These subdivisions were unevenly

  distributed. In the maritime New England colonies, where trade was most affected by London’s taxation policies, those favouring complete separation were in the majority; in the central

  colonies, separatists and loyalists were approximately equal in number; and in the southern colonies loyalist support was at its strongest. In the fourteenth colony, Canada, formerly New France,

  there was minimal support for the rebellion. There, the language, customs and religion of the largely French population were respected by the British, whose rule was infinitely preferable to the

  corrupt form of government once imposed by Old France.




  One of those who favoured separation on the outbreak of the rebellion was Benedict Arnold, the son of a long-established and highly respected New England family. Born in

  Norwich, Connecticut, on 14 January 1741, he was apprenticed to an apothecary in his youth but had served for a while in a local militia regiment during the 1754 war against the French and Indians.

  Returning to his mortar and pestle, he moved to New Haven in 1761. He possessed a shrewd business sense, expanding his activities into trade and shipping with Canada and the West Indies, the

  rewards enabling him to secure election to a captaincy in the local militia.




  Having marched his men to Boston, where the New England militia besieged the British garrison, he recognised that only the rebels’ lack of cannon prevented the town from becoming

  untenable. He persuaded the Massachusetts Committee of Safety that this could be remedied by capturing the guns of Fort Ticonderoga. The Committee accepted his plan, granting him the rank of

  colonel with which to lead their contingent, which would be joined by one from what is now the state of Vermont under the command of Ethan Allen. Ticonderoga, a strong fortification on a peninsula

  at the southern end of Lake Champlain, lay on the direct route between the Hudson valley and Canada. During the days of the French it had witnessed much fighting but had now become something of a

  military backwater, manned by a small care-and-maintenance detachment that ran a slack routine. The approach of Arnold and Allen went undetected, but when they reached the lake they found that they

  had only sufficient boats for 83 of their 270 men. Nevertheless, on the night of 10 May they rowed silently across and scaled the walls to find the garrison sound asleep. Without the loss of a man,

  the Americans captured the fort and with it 122 guns, arms, munitions and stores, as well as several small vessels. Two days later they captured another post, Crown Point, without encountering

  resistance. In due course some of the guns would be transported to Boston, with the result that Arnold predicted.




  Arnold’s superiors were delighted with the result of the expedition. They were, however, less than pleased not only by his inflated claim for personal expenses, amounting to approximately

  £45,000 in today’s money, but also by his angry reaction to their auditors. At Ticonderoga he did not get on with Ethan Allen and asked for another appointment. He

  was assigned to the ill-considered invasion of Canada, during which he would lead a force of 1,100 men from Massachusetts across what is now Maine, up the Kennebec and Dead Rivers, then down the

  Chaudière River to the point where it met the St Lawrence near Quebec. Simultaneously, Major General Philip Schuyler, with 1,000 men, was to advance from Ticonderoga along the traditional

  invasion route, capture Montreal and join Arnold at Quebec, which was the expedition’s ultimate objective.




  Arnold began his march on 12 September. It was to be an epic of hardship, completed by canoe and bateau in increasingly harsh winter conditions. By the time the St Lawrence was reached on 8

  November, desertion, disease and starvation had reduced his command to 600 men. On 13 November he crossed the river to join Major General Richard Montgomery, who had succeeded Schuyler when the

  latter fell ill. Montgomery had taken Montreal but now had just 300 men at his disposal. Despite this, he was determined to assault the formidable defences of Quebec and on New Year’s Day

  decided to use darkness and a driving blizzard to conceal his lack of numbers. This was what Sir Guy Carleton, the Governor-General of Canada, had been expecting, and his 1,800 men were ready and

  waiting. Montgomery was killed in the first minutes of the attack. Arnold, hit in the left leg, was dragged to the rear by his men. Nevertheless, a party of Americans under Colonel Daniel

  Morgan—of whom more in the next chapter—did penetrate the defences, holding out in the town until forced to surrender at dawn. The attack had been a disaster. American losses amounted

  to 60 killed or wounded, plus 426 captured; British casualties came to five killed and thirteen wounded.




  Surrounded by a hostile Canadian population, the newly promoted Brigadier General Arnold and the remnants of the force maintained a tenuous presence near the city until 6 May 1776, when British

  transports arrived with Major General John Burgoyne and substantial reinforcements for Carleton. Abandoning his guns, Arnold withdrew to Montreal, joining Brigadier General John Sullivan, the new

  commander of the American forces in Canada. Having himself received reinforcements, Sullivan mounted a counter-attack at Trois Rivières on 6 June. The affair was botched and resulted in his

  precipitate retreat. Despite this, he remained determined to hold on to Upper Canada to the bitter end. The more clear-sighted Arnold, seeing that there was nothing to be

  gained in either of the Canadas, Upper or Lower, wrote to him, commenting, ‘Let us quiet them and secure our own country before it is too late.’




  The army withdrew to Crown Point, followed by Carleton. Both sides understood that the next move would be dictated by whoever controlled Lake Champlain and began building gunboats and other

  small war vessels. Arnold was placed in command of the American flotilla, the presence of which inhibited a further British advance in the direction of the Hudson valley until the campaigning

  season was over. At length, on 11 October, the two flotillas clashed west of Valcour Island. Although Arnold managed to escape to Crown Point with five of his gunboats (one of which was discovered

  in 1997), the remaining eleven were sunk or set on fire to prevent their capture.




  The strategy for the 1777 campaign in the north was dictated by Burgoyne, who returned to England on winter leave. Known as ‘Gentleman Johnny’, he was a largely absentee Member of

  the House of Commons, a poet, a playwright, a successful gambler and a sportsman. More importantly, he was well connected and, moving in that level of society where decisions were made, he wasted

  no time in putting forward a plan that he believed would end the rebellion in the American colonies. The epicentre of the rebellion, he judged correctly, lay in New England, which could be isolated

  by a triple thrust converging on Albany in the Hudson valley. The first thrust would be made by General William Howe’s army marching up the river from New York; the second would involve a

  force under Colonel Barry St Leger advancing along the Mohawk to its confluence with the Hudson; and the third would be delivered by his own troops entering the Hudson valley by the traditional

  route from the north. The plan was approved by Lord George Germain, who, as Lord George Sackville, had so disgraced himself at the Battle of Minden in 1759 that he was declared unfit to serve the

  Crown in any military capacity whatsoever, yet was now, as Secretary of State for the Colonies, inexplicably responsible for the conduct of operations in America. On paper, the plan looked workable

  enough; in reality, it ignored the vast distances and the difficult terrain involved, as well as the fact that none of the three forces could either support or even communicate

  with each other. Having given Burgoyne his approval and sent him back to Canada with a commission as commander of the northern sector, Germain committed the greatest blunder of his career by

  informing Howe of the plan yet leaving it to his discretion whether he participated or not. Howe, senior to Burgoyne, could continue to do as he liked and there was nothing the latter could do

  about it. As we shall see in the next chapter, he chose to advance in an entirely different direction, against Philadelphia, thereby depriving Burgoyne’s plan of one of its most vital

  elements.




  In April 1777 a British force from New York raided Danbury, Connecticut, where it destroyed an American supply depot. Arnold, on leave from the northern front, quickly mobilised the local

  militia, harassing the raiders as they withdrew. At Ridgefield he attempted to intercept them and inflicted further loss, his horse being killed under him during the fighting. Congress was so

  pleased with the outcome that it not only promoted him to major general but also provided him with a new horse ‘as a token of their admiration of his gallant conduct’. He then re-joined

  the Americans’ northern army, once again commanded by Philip Schuyler, at Stillwater on the Hudson.




  In July the second element of Burgoyne’s plan was activated. Leaving Fort Oswego on Lake Ontario, St Leger commenced his advance towards the Mohawk valley. The size of his

  command—consisting of less than 900 men, the majority of whom were loyalists or Indians, plus a few light guns—was absurdly small for such an undertaking. He found his path barred by

  Fort Stanwix, located on the site of modern Rome, New York, and instituted a siege. On 6 August his Indians and loyalists ambushed an American relief column, mauling it so severely that it was

  forced to turn back. Simultaneously, however, the garrison of Fort Stanwix made an effective sortie, destroying the Indian encampment. Learning of these developments, Schuyler decided to send a

  second relief column, consisting of 1,000 volunteers, under Arnold’s command. This was a courageous decision as Schuyler’s army was only 4,500 strong and Burgoyne, advancing from the

  north, was now just 25 miles away; in fact, Arnold was the only one of Schuyler’s officers who did not oppose the decision. American spies penetrated St Leger’s camp, spreading word

  that Arnold was on the way and exaggerating his strength. This was too much for the Indians, who, having already lost all their possessions, simply decamped. St Leger had no

  alternative but abandon the siege and, leaving his guns and stores behind, retire hastily to Oswego. The second element of Burgoyne’s plan had now come to naught.
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  The advance of Burgoyne’s own army, 7,200 strong, had begun at the end of June. At first all had gone well. By heaving his artillery up Mount Defiance he rendered Fort Ticonderoga

  untenable. The garrison had abandoned the post on the night of 5/6 July, and on 7 July its rearguard was caught and mauled at Hubbardton. At this point Burgoyne lost his head. Instead of taking the

  easier route to the Hudson along Lake George, he decided to enter the valley by way of Wood Creek and Fort Ann. The Americans harassed the column constantly, blocking the road with felled trees, so

  that it took about three weeks to complete the journey. On 3 August he received confirmation that Howe would not be marching north from New York. A more prudent commander would have consolidated

  his position or retired, but Burgoyne, filled with groundless optimism, decided to press on in the vague hope that he would meet St Leger at Albany. This ignored the cardinal rule that the further

  an offensive proceeds the more its power declines, while for the enemy the reverse is true. Indeed, from that moment on, reinforcements began to reach Schuyler in growing numbers. To emphasise the

  point, a strong force of Burgoyne’s German mercenary contingent, sent to forage near Bennington, was badly cut up on 16 August, sustaining 1,000 casualties. Undeterred, Burgoyne crossed to

  the right bank of the Hudson near Saratoga and advanced against the main American position, which he believed to be located on Bemis Heights. Congress had now appointed Major General Horatio Gates

  to command its army, which, its ranks further filled by tales of atrocities committed by Burgoyne’s Indian allies, now numbered 7,000 men.




  Having removed St Leger from the equation, Arnold had re-joined the army. He was not a popular figure among his peers, being regarded as opinionated and self-seeking. He certainly resented the

  promotion of others for deeds he regarded as inferior to his own, and he did not get on with Gates, who referred to him as ‘a pompous little fellow’. The principal difference between

  them was that Gates did not believe that his militia and volunteers were equal to a stand-up fight with Burgoyne’s regulars, and for that reason he had fortified the

  Heights, intending to fight a purely defensive battle; Arnold, on the other hand, believed that Burgoyne would attempt to work round the American position to the west, rendering it untenable, and

  he advocated offensive action against the British while they were engaged in their flank march.




  Arnold had read the situation correctly and, fortunately for the Americans, he was commanding the left wing of Gates’s army when Burgoyne advanced on 19 September. Thick woodland and

  broken terrain prevented the British from forming any impression of their opponents’ position, whereas their own progress was reported regularly by the American scouts. Arnold repeatedly

  asked Gates for permission to attack with his own troops and eventually this was granted. He penetrated the space between Burgoyne’s right and centre columns, forcing the latter back to an

  area of cleared land and a small house known as Freeman’s Farm, which changed hands several times during heavy fighting. Arnold was everywhere, leading attacks and counter-attacks, bringing

  up troops and rallying those who had been repulsed. Believing that it was possible to inflict a sharp reverse on Burgoyne, he repeatedly asked Gates for reinforcements, but few were forthcoming.

  Meanwhile, Burgoyne summoned his left column, consisting of German troops under Major General von Riedesel. This fell on the flank of Arnold’s men, forcing them to retreat at about the same

  time Gates ordered Arnold off the field. When dusk put an end to the fighting the British retained possession of the battlefield but had sustained 600 casualties, twice those of the Americans; they

  were, furthermore, shaken by the vehemence with which the American counter-stroke had been delivered.




  It is just possible that, had Burgoyne chosen to withdraw at that moment, he might have saved much of his army, but that was not in his mind. Two days after the battle he received a

  communication from Sir Henry Clinton, commanding at New York while Howe was campaigning in Pennsylvania. Clinton told him that, having received reinforcements from England, he was prepared to mount

  a diversion up the Hudson to relieve the pressure on Burgoyne’s army. Burgoyne therefore decided to delay renewing his attack on Bemis Heights to allow Clinton’s measures to take

  effect. The decision proved fatal, for, when the moment arrived, his remaining 5,000 troops, subsisting on reduced rations, were confronted by an American army that was now

  9,000 strong. Clinton kept his promise, but while his diversionary attack achieved some tactical successes, it was mounted too late to affect the issue.




  Nor was all sweetness and light across the lines. In his despatch to Congress regarding what became known as the Battle of Freeman’s Farm, Gates jealously omitted to mention Arnold’s

  critical part in the action. Furious, Arnold stormed into his headquarters and a monumental row followed. According to the eyewitness accounts of staff officers, ‘matters were altercated in a

  very high strain’ and ‘gross language ensued’.




  During the next few days the quarrel was maintained by letter, to the point that Gates ordered Arnold to hand over his command to Major General Benjamin Lincoln and told him to seek employment

  elsewhere. Etiquette required that Arnold should leave at once but, like Achilles, he chose to remain sulking in his tent.




  On 7 October Burgoyne again attempted to turn Gates’s position on Bemis Heights, and again he was vigorously counter-attacked by the American left wing. Colonel Daniel Morgan’s

  sharpshooting riflemen took a severe toll of the British officers, as they had in the earlier battle. Arnold, unable to remain passive, galloped on to the battlefield and assumed de facto

  command. Under his inspired leadership the Americans forced their opponents back on two redoubts that had been constructed to cover the western approaches to Freeman’s Farm. The redoubts were

  then stormed, the effect being to render the rest of Burgoyne’s position untenable. At the moment of victory, Arnold was shot in the left leg, the same which had been injured at Quebec, and

  his horse, killed by the same volley, broke it when it crashed on top of him. Although in agony, he exhibited a surprisingly chivalrous side to his nature, for as his soldiers ran past to bayonet

  the Hessian who had shot him, now himself lying wounded, he called out, ‘Don’t hurt him, he’s a fine fellow! He only did his duty.’




  The Battle of Bemis Heights spelled the end for Burgoyne, who had sustained a further 600 casualties in contrast to the 150 suffered by the Americans. Abandoning his sick and wounded, he began a

  ponderous retreat to Saratoga the following day but was pursued and surrounded by Gates, whose army now outnumbered his remaining troops by three to one. He asked Gates for terms and on 17 October

  the two concluded a Convention under which his men were to be disarmed, marched to Boston and repatriated on condition that they took no further part in the war. To its shame,

  Congress repudiated the agreement and the men were held in Virginian prison camps; by the end of the war, many of them had managed to make good their escape.
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  Generously, Burgoyne conceded that Arnold had been largely responsible for his downfall. The surrender at Saratoga, however, did not merely end major operations in the northern sector of the

  war, for its strategic consequences were of immense importance. France, keen to avenge her ejection from Canada and taking due note that the colonists were quite capable of standing up to their

  Mother Country, not only recognised the United States of America but also declared war on the United Kingdom in 1778, to be followed by Spain in 1779 and Holland in 1780. In the long term, the

  colonists’ victory was assured, and, thus far, no man had done more to achieve it than Benedict Arnold.




  It took months for Arnold’s leg to heal, and even then he walked with a limp. In July 1778 General George Washington appointed him military governor of Philadelphia after the British had

  evacuated the city. Philadelphia society, which still contained numerous open and covert loyalists, was much grander than that of provincial New England and he quickly succumbed to the round of

  balls, parties and other social events. A widower, he also became besotted with and duly married Miss Margaret Shippen who, at nineteen, was half his age. The Arnolds threw extravagant parties and

  generally lived beyond their means until they were deeply in debt. To remedy the situation, Arnold became involved in dubious financial dealings. However, his overbearing manner and arbitrary

  decisions had made him enemies. The Executive Council of Pennsylvania laid charges of fraud and peculation against him before Congress. At his court martial only two, relating to the illegal

  granting of a passport to a vessel and the use of public wagons for private purposes, were proved. By order of the court, he was subjected to a public reprimand from Washington. Simultaneously, the

  accounts for his period of command in Canada were being audited. They contained numerous irregularities, including the unauthorised deduction of large sums. Aggrieved by further criticism, he wrote

  bitterly to Washington: ‘Having become a cripple in the service of my country, I little expected to meet such ungrateful returns.’ There were, too, other causes for

  his growing bitterness. He was daily witnessing the dirty, self-seeking side of Congressional politics at close quarters and was beginning to wonder whether such a system had been worth fighting

  for. Again, having once fought against Catholic France, he disliked and distrusted the Franco-American alliance. Gradually, his disillusionment with the American cause became complete.




  In 1780 he was appointed commandant of the strategically important post of West Point on the Hudson. He immediately opened a correspondence with Sir Henry Clinton, now the British

  commander-in-chief in North America, offering to surrender the fort and its 3,000-strong garrison in exchange for a suitable consideration. Naturally, Clinton found the suggestion acceptable and

  sent his adjutant general, Major John Andre, up the river in the sloop HMS Vulture to meet Arnold. The terms agreed included the payment of £10,000 to Arnold, who would also receive

  a brigadier-general’s commission in the British Army. Arnold handed over a plan of the fort and other documents, which Andre concealed in his stockings. Unfortunately for him, the

  Vulture had been forced to move and, being unable to re-board her, he had to return to New York on foot, carrying a pass in the name of John Anderson, signed by Arnold. A few miles from

  safety he was arrested by suspicious militiamen and detained when the compromising documents were discovered. When, on 25 September 1780, Arnold was informed of his capture, he promptly had himself

  rowed out to the Vulture in his barge. Not until he knew that Arnold was safe did Andre disclose his true identity. He was, nevertheless, tried, convicted and hanged as a spy, being denied

  the soldier’s privilege of a firing squad. Many American officers regretted his death, for they had grown to like and respect him during his captivity, and, in sharp contrast to

  Arnold’s blatant treachery, he had striven to carry out his orders in as honourable a fashion as circumstances would permit.




  Arnold’s new career revealed all the savagery of the turncoat. In December 1780 Clinton sent him to Virginia with a force of 1,600 men, mainly loyalists and American deserters, to destroy

  depots used to supply the American armies in the south. His first objective was Richmond, much of which was thoroughly looted and burned to the ground on 5 January 1781. In May, having inflicted

  further devastation on Petersburg, Lord Cornwallis, whose army had just completed its long march from North Carolina, sent him back to New York. In September Clinton despatched

  him to New London, the base for many American privateers, in his home state of Connecticut. There he burned ships, warehouses and most of the town. For good measure, he also stormed the nearby Fort

  Griswold, denying quarter to its 150-strong garrison, the majority of whom were slaughtered. In December he sailed for England with his wife and briefly advised the government on the conduct of the

  war.




  With the conclusion of peace, Arnold’s public life came to an end. Once hailed as one of the principal heroes of the American Revolution, his name had become and remains a synonym for

  treachery within the United States, despite his immense contribution to the cause of Independence. During the war other disenchanted American officers had changed sides or left the service, but

  they had done so out of conviction, and that was accepted. Arnold, however, had done so for personal gain, earning his countrymen’s loathing and contempt. Whatever his qualities as a soldier

  may have been—and they were considerable—the inner demons that drove him were the need to be at the centre of events, the lust for rank, power and wealth, and the enjoyment of high

  living. In the end, they destroyed him.




  His immediate usefulness ended, he found himself treated with cold indifference in London. As he had failed to deliver West Point he received only one-third of the £10,000 he had set as

  the price for his treachery. In British eyes, he was twice a traitor who had first fought against his King and then betrayed his own people. Such a man could not be trusted and was therefore unfit

  for further military employment. For the same reasons, he was denied the entrée into Society. There was a certain natural justice in his situation, for he found himself excluded

  from the very things he valued most. To support himself, Arnold returned to commerce, with only modest success. He died on 14 June 1801. His son William became a junior officer in the 19th Light

  Dragoons, with whom he served against his father’s former countrymen on the Niagara front during the War of 1812.
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  JOHN TARLETON was a successful Liverpool businessman with interests in shipping, in import and export, in

  plantations in Jamaica and other West Indian islands as well as Curaçao and, by no means least, in the infamous slave trade. For all that, he was a loving husband and father, and his

  attitude to the last of his interests mirrored that of many of his contemporaries, who strove to justify this revolting traffic in human beings by stating blandly that it was the duty of good men

  to rescue the African from the wretched condition into which the Almighty had inexplicably consigned him, and introduce him to the twin benefits of useful toil and imposed Christianity, so freely

  available in the plantations of the New World. There were many in Liverpool who abhorred the trade and would ultimately play a leading role in putting an end to it, but in the middle of the

  eighteenth century they remained a minority who, with some justice, claimed that every brick of their town had been cemented by an African’s blood.




  John’s second son, Banastre, named after his maternal grandfather, was born in 1754 and received his early education at the Liverpool Free School. He wrote good, clear, incisive English,

  in sharp contrast to the verbose style then fashionable, and could turn his hand to poetry as well. He was a fine sportsman and rode well. When he went up to read law at University College, Oxford,

  in 1771 he was a rather wild, over-indulged young man, very much a product of the violent Liverpool environment in which slavery and privateering were frequently the roads to riches. Little is

  known of his career as an undergraduate, but he no doubt found the reading of law extremely dull and spent much of the summer terms playing cricket, at which he excelled. His new acquaintances,

  including the future Lord Rawdon, with whom he would later serve in America, would have seen a handsome, stocky, red-haired young man with an engaging style and great charm of

  manner. They would have noticed, too, that he had already developed a voracious appetite for the opposite sex, and that he was much given to the advertisement of his own virtues. In 1773 his father

  died, taking care that all his family were well provided for. Banastre’s legacy amounted to £5,000, an enormous sum which translated into today’s value would be approximately

  £100,000. It was enough to turn the heads of most nineteen-year-olds, and Banastre was no exception.




  After he came down from Oxford he continued with his law studies at the Middle Temple, perhaps out of respect for his father’s wishes. There is no doubt that he disliked the subject and

  found its practitioners pompously boring. As his enthusiasm for the profession waned, so his penchant grew for drinking, gambling, womanising and roistering. Like his father, he dearly loved a

  lord, and his inheritance enabled him to keep up with the younger members of the aristocracy at the gaming tables. In such circles, too, were to be found a better, more experienced class of hussy

  than he had been used to, and it was entirely characteristic of him that should a lady not succumb to his demands immediately he would pursue her remorselessly with expensive gifts until she did.

  His favourite haunt was the Cocoa Tree, where he and his cronies developed a taste for practical jokes, including the perennial favourite of overturning sedan chairs. One night at Covent Garden he

  stopped the performance by reading aloud a satirical poem he had composed, mercilessly ridiculing one of his rivals.




  Of course, it could not last for ever. There was a general opinion that Master Tarleton would make but an indifferent lawyer, and opinion he doubtless shared, for he withdrew from the Middle

  Temple early in 1775. At about the same time the last of his legacy ran out and there was nothing for it but to return to Liverpool. His mother and his elder brother Thomas took him severely to

  task, as they would do many times in the future. Thomas certainly did not want him in the business, nor was he prepared to support him. It was suggested that a spell in the Army might do him good

  and enhance the family’s standing, and to this suggestion he readily agreed. His mother therefore purchased a cornet’s commission for him in the fashionable 1st

  Dragoon Guards at a probable cost of £2,000.




  Banastre reported for duty at Norwich in the spring of 1775. The darker side of his nature was not yet apparent, and to the regiment he simply seemed to be a somewhat extrovert junior officer

  with a fund of amusing and risqué experiences to recount. He was put through his paces as a troop leader and seems to have mastered the basic elements of his new profession very well indeed.

  He did not, however, remain with the regiment for long, for on the outbreak of rebellion in the American colonies he immediately volunteered for active service and in December his request for

  transfer was favourably endorsed.




  In London he held a farewell party for his old friends at the Cocoa Tree. As the drink flowed the talk was of General Charles Lee, a renegade British officer who had thrown in his lot with the

  rebels and was much reviled for doing so. Lee was a man of startling contradictions. He was cultured, spoke several languages and read the classics for pleasure in their original Greek and Latin,

  yet he was foul-mouthed, was given to coarse humour, drank to excess and was something of a lecher. He believed in personal cleanliness but went about in the scruffiest clothes. He could be the

  pleasantest company, although he was unsparing in his opinions, possessed a vile temper and was inclined to betray friends and enemies alike. He was tall and skinny, with a prominent nose that

  earned him the nickname ‘Naso’.




  As a junior officer Lee had been present at Braddock’s defeat on the Monongahela and Abercromby’s repulse at Fort Ticonderoga, the two worst British reverses in what became known in

  America as the French and Indian Wars. He had lived among the Mohawk Indians, who called him Boiling Water because of his volatile temper. His restless spirit then took him back to Europe, where he

  fought in various causes in Portugal, Poland and Russia. He had been forced to leave Italy in a hurry after shooting dead his opponent in an illegal duel that cost him two fingers. Returning to

  England, he was sharply critical of the King and his ministers and was said to be the author of the notorious Letters of Junius. Arriving back in America in 1773, he convinced a majority

  of Congressmen that his knowledge of war was without equal throughout the Colonies. Unfortunately, when it came to the point of rebellion, Congress had a moral duty to appoint

  a native-born American, preferably a Virginian, as its commander-in-chief, and the logical choice was George Washington, another veteran of the French and Indian Wars. Initially, Lee ranked third

  in the American military hierarchy, just below Artemis Ward of Massachusetts. This he resented bitterly, and when Ward resigned after the rebels had captured Boston he began to plot the downfall of

  Washington.




  Technically, Lee was not a traitor, having resigned from the British service before he entered the American. Just the same, his desertion angered his countrymen and many of the party at the

  Cocoa Tree would gladly have watched him hang. Flushed with drink and righteous indignation, Cornet Tarleton leapt upon a table brandishing his sabre, vowing that he would personally cut off

  Lee’s head. Roaring with laughter, his friends heaved him back to his seat; no one was going to pay too much attention to the ravings of a drunken subaltern. Yet there were those present who

  would remember the words as being prophetic, for within a year Tarleton had ruined Lee, coming as close to fulfilling his boast as made no difference, and had embarked upon a meteoric career as one

  of the finest leaders of light cavalry in the history of the British Army.




  For the moment, Tarleton would be serving as a troop officer with the 16th Light Dragoons. The light dragoon was a peculiarly British type of cavalryman whose origins lay in the Jacobite

  Rebellion of 1745. The Duke of Kingston, who had been impressed by the hussars of the Austrian Empire, raised a regiment of light dragoons for service in Scotland. The training given to the light

  dragoon was more exhaustive than that given to the average cavalry trooper. He was taught to fight mounted or dismounted, to fire from the saddle, to skirmish, to throw up defences and, above all,

  to use his initiative. He went about his business at top speed and neither hedge, ditch nor river delayed him. He carried a sabre, pistols, carbine and bayonet, a hedging bill and a spade. He wore

  a distinctive leather helmet and had a tremendous regimental esprit de corps. He was just about the most versatile soldier in the army, but he was, first and foremost, a cavalryman, and

  that meant reconnaissance, forming screens, raiding, pursuit and, if necessary, charging in close order. Kingston’s regiment performed so well that several more light dragoon regiments were

  raised as part of the regular establishment. Given that uncleared virgin forest still covered much of the American colonies, they were better suited to such an environment than

  heavier cavalry, which relied on the massed shock action of a charge delivered across open terrain.




  Arriving in the war zone, Tarleton took part in General Sir Henry Clinton’s abortive expedition to Charleston, South Carolina, in June 1776, the defences of which had been previously

  strengthened by Lee. When the British ships sustained serious damage from a battery on Sullivan’s Island, covering the seaward approaches to the harbour, Clinton decided to re-embark such

  troops as he had landed and re-join his superior, General Sir William Howe, who was about to attack New York. On 27 August Howe, a sound tactician, won a convincing victory on Long Island, forcing

  Washington to abandon both it and New York itself. He beat Washington at Harlem Heights on 16 September and again at White Plains on 28 October. The following month he took Forts Washington and Lee

  on the lower reaches of the Hudson. Washington was forced to commence a retreat across New Jersey with his rearguard commanded by Lee. Congress, shaken by the scale of the disaster, fled from

  Philadelphia to Baltimore, granting Washington what amounted to dictatorial powers. At this point Howe could have probably put an end to the matter, but he lacked the killer instinct of a great

  commander and simply dispersed his troops into winter quarters.




  During these operations Tarleton simply performed the usual duties of a troop officer and, while he was noted for his dash, there had been few opportunities for him to distinguish himself. That

  would change dramatically on Thursday 12 December 1776, when Lieutenant Colonel William Harcourt, commanding the 16th Light Dragoons, personally led a troop-strong patrol with the object of

  discovering the whereabouts of Lee and his troops, who, since Washington had retired across the Delaware, were suspected of being somewhere to right and rear of the British advance. The patrol

  consisted of Captain Nash, Lieutenant Leigh and Cornet Tarleton, the troop’s officers, Captain Eustace, who was an aide to General Cornwallis, and 25 troopers. The presence of Harcourt and

  Eustace indicate the importance which was attached to its mission.




  Leaving the little town of Pennington, New Jersey, the patrol rode north through the deserted, wintry landscape throughout the day, reaching the hamlet of Hillsborough on

  Milestone Creek during the evening. Next morning Harcourt got the patrol moving again well before dawn, heading in the direction of Morristown with Tarleton and six troopers acting as point. A

  solitary armed rebel was captured, but he was almost certainly a deserter and had nothing of interest to say. Some way beyond, local people told Harcourt that Lee was no more than five miles away.

  They also warned him that rebel troops were closing in behind the patrol.
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